ARMY RESEARCH LABORATORY



# Manufacturing of a Composite Tailcone for an XM-1002 Training Round

by James M. Sands, Uday Vaidya, George Husman, Juan Serrano, and Robert Brannon

**ARL-TR-4381** 

February 2008

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

### NOTICES

### Disclaimers

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

Citation of manufacturer's or trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use thereof.

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.

# **Army Research Laboratory**

Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21005-5069

**ARL-TR-4381** 

February 2008

# Manufacturing of a Composite Tailcone for an XM-1002 Training Round

James M. Sands Weapons and Materials Research Directorate, ARL

Uday Vaidya, George Husman, and Juan Serrano University of Alabama at Birmingham, AL

**Robert Brannon** National Composite Center, Kettering, OH

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

	REPORT DO	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188						
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing the burden, to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information it it does not display a currently valid OMB control number. <b>PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS.</b>								
1. REPORT DATE (D	1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY) 2. REPORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)				
February 2008		Final			2004–2005			
4. TITLE AND SUBTI	TLE				5a. CONTRACT NUMBER			
Manufacturing o	f a Composite Ta	ilcone for an XM-	1002 Training R	ound				
					5b. GRANT NUMBER			
			5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER					
6. AUTHOR(S)					5d. PROJECT NUMBER			
		eorge Husman, <sup>*</sup> J	uan Serrano, <sup>*</sup>		W911NF-04-2-0018			
and Robert Bran	non <sup>†</sup>				5e. TASK NUMBER			
					5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER			
7. PERFORMING OR	GANIZATION NAME(	S) AND ADDRESS(ES	)		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION			
U.S. Army Resea	-				REPORT NUMBER			
•	O-ARL-WM-MD				ARL-TR-4381			
Aberdeen Provin	g Ground, MD 2	1005-5069						
9. SPONSORING/MC	NITORING AGENCY	NAME(S) AND ADDRE	ESS(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)			
					11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)			
12. DISTRIBUTION/A	VAILABILITY STATE	MENT						
Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.								
13. SUPPLEMENTAR	RY NOTES							
	labama, Birmingh							
_	osite Center, Kette	ering, OH						
14. ABSTRACT								
					d, long-fiber thermoplastic (LFT)			
					nical report. During the last decade, the			
					ir inherent advantages over traditional occssing cycle times, recycling potential,			
					s have a wide range of applications in the			
					nd/or structures. LFT composites are a			
					n 6 to 24 mm) combined with a			
-	· ·		0 0		ymer). LFTs have the ability to be molded			
into complex geometries featuring ribs, knock-outs, and thickness variations within the parts. LFT parts/components can be								
processed by ext	rusion-compressi	on, injection-comp	pression, and/or i	njection-molding	g processes.			
15. SUBJECT TERMS								
long fiber thermoplastics, compression molding, resins/materials – thermoplastics, applications – military, XM-1002, manufacturing, composite								
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF: 17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRAC				18. NUMBER OF PAGES	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON James M. Sands			
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	UL	22	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (Include area code)			
UNCLASSIFIED	UNCLASSIFIED	UNCLASSIFIED	UL	22	(410) 306-0878			

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8/98)				
Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18				

## Contents

Lis	List of Figures	
Lis	ist of Tables	
Ac	eknowledgments	v
1.	Thermoplastic Composite Manufacturing	1
2.	Kinetic-Energy Penetrator	3
3.	Material Selection	4
4.	Manufacturing	4
5.	Molding	6
6.	Summary	10
7.	References	11
Dis	stribution List	12

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Effect of glass fiber length on composite properties	1
Figure 2. Hot-melt impregnation line for production of thermoplastic composite pellets and tape (courtesy: National Composite Center)	2
Figure 3. Extrusion compression molding line for LFT (courtesy: National Composite Center)	3
Figure 4. Molding concept for manufacturing of plastic tailcones: (a) exploded view and (b) cross section.	5
Figure 5. Cross section of LFT composite tailcone showing detail on inserts used during molding trials of hollow-back thermoplastic composite tailcones: (a) threaded insert and (b) beaded insert	5
Figure 6. Back-filled LFT composite tailcone cross section.	6
Figure 7. Molded thermoplastic composite tailcone, aluminum inserts, and aluminum tailcone	7
<ul> <li>Figure 8. (a) Back-filled cones produced during second molding trials using neat nylon 66 (white cone), 10% (right) and 40% W<sub>f</sub> glass LFT (left). (b) Detail showing as produced hollow-back tailcone (first molding) and back-filled version (second molding).</li> </ul>	8
Figure 9. Cross-section image of neat nylon 66 tailcone and detail on thermally induced cracks.	8
Figure 10. Cross-section image of 10% W <sub>f</sub> nylon 66 tailcone and detail on porosity and thermal stress induced crack.	9
Figure 11. Cross-section image of 40% W <sub>f</sub> nylon 66 tailcone and detail on minor crack formation at the edge of the tailcone	9

## List of Tables

Table 1. Physical, mechanical, and thermal properties of nylon 66 (PA) long glass fiber.....7

## Acknowledgments

Support provided by the U.S. Army Research Laboratory (ARL), Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, under a cooperative agreement ARL contract no. W911NF-04-2-0018 is gratefully acknowledged. The authors are grateful to James Garner and Peter Dehmer of ARL for helpful discussions.

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.

## 1. Thermoplastic Composite Manufacturing

Long fiber-reinforced thermoplastics (LFTs) have received a lot of attention in the automotive industry due to the improved mechanical properties that can be achieved and the relative ease of fabrication and handling of these materials (1). The global use of LFTs is expected to grow from around 18 million kg (40 million lb) in 2001 to 34 million kg (75 million lb) in 2007 (2). Long fibers (fiber lengths between 12 and 50 mm) provide elastic modulus and the tensile strength close to 90% of that obtained using continuous fibers (3) (figure 1). The main advantage of LFTs is that unlike continuous fiber reinforced composites, they can be processed using traditional plastics molding equipment and therefore parts can be manufactured at medium volume rates with excellent consistency and repeatability. The use of a thermoplastic matrix gives the molder the ability to modify and enhance the properties of the resin by blending additives, fillers, and fire retardants depending on the nature of the application (4).



Figure 1. Effect of glass fiber length on composite properties (3).

LFTs can be manufactured using conventional extrusion-compression molding and/or injectionmolding techniques. Most of the applications in which LFTs have been commercialized include a polypropylene (PP) matrix and E-glass fiber reinforcement. In the last few years, there have been interesting innovative developments focused on automation of these processes that increase the output rate, such as D-LFT, S-LFT and E-LFT (1). Variations of these processes have also been used to produce sheets starting with neat resins and fiber rovings (4). Advances have also led to the utilization of a wide variety of engineering thermoplastics as matrix materials along with other fiber reinforcements (2). Compression molding is an established composite-processing technique which was originally developed for the stamping of thermoset matrix composite pre-impregnated sheets to complex geometries. In this process, a pre-impregnated sheet molding compound (SMC) is heated to its softening point, and then transferred to a compression-molding press, where the sheet is formed using double-sided tooling (aluminum, steel, or epoxy). The important feature of this process is that during forming, the material is not subjected to high levels of stress as in injection molding, and therefore the reinforcement is not damaged (5). In the case of LFT-compression molding, the process begins by hot-melt impregnating reinforcing fibers with a thermoplastic matrix and subsequently chopping the continuous tow into pellets of a set length (between 8 and 50 mm) (figure 2). Hot-melt impregnation is performed by wire coating, crosshead extrusion, and/or thermoplastic pultrusion (3). The long fiber pellets are fed into the hopper of a single-screw, low-shear extruder. A molten charge of a predetermined size and shape (usually cylindrical) is extruded, which is then transferred by an operator (or a robot) to the compression-molding press for the forming operation (figure 3).



Figure 2. Hot-melt impregnation line for production of thermoplastic composite pellets and tape (courtesy: National Composite Center).

Cycle times for this process can be as short as one part per minute, and the production rate can be accelerated by utilizing multiple cavity tools. The extrusion-compression molding is ideal for small-to-medium sized semi-structural components for the automotive industry and has already been implemented in applications such as automotive side panels, bumper beams, dash boards, underbody panels, and hoods. The potential for using thermoplastic LFT technology in other applications such as military components, infrastructure and aerospace is expanding due to the cost-effective nature of the resins and processing methods.



Figure 3. Extrusion compression molding line for LFT (courtesy: National Composite Center).

## 2. Kinetic-Energy Penetrator

A kinetic-energy (KE) penetrator is one of the ammunition types used by the military as the main ammunition on tanks. A KE projectile is comprised of three parts: (1) the nosecone, tailored for aerodynamics and penetration; (2) the projectile mass rod, where most of the projectile's mass is concentrated to achieve a high KE during impact; and (3) the tailcone, which is aerodynamically designed to induce drag and stabilize the projectile by inducing rotation. In the field, the stabilizer used in the KE projectile includes a finned assembly, but, in the case of training rounds, the use of fin-stabilized rounds is not required. Instead, a grooved stabilizer made of machined aluminum is used. The projectile is encapsulated in a shell and it is fired by the combustion of a propellant inside the chamber (6).

The use of a plastic tailcone for a KE penetrator training round was investigated by Garner et al. (7). From this study, it was evident that by manufacturing the tailcone using a conventional plastic processing route such as injection molding, significant cost savings could be achieved when compared to an aluminum-machined tailcone that is currently used. Studies by Garner

et al. (7) also demonstrated that select commercial polymers could withstand the extreme conditions witnessed during firing inside the barrel, and the pressure drop during the muzzle exit of the projectile. However, the cost of the proposed polymer resins (poly ether ether ketone [PEEK]) in their study is relatively high and currently runs about \$96/kg (\$44/lb) (8). In this study, the manufacturing of a thermoplastic composite tailcone made of nylon66/glass LFT is discussed. The focus of this work is to demonstrate the feasibility of producing a thermoplastic tailcone that is both cost-effective and easy to process in a medium-volume production environment.

### 3. Material Selection

Several high-performance materials have been investigated for use in a training projectile for military ammunition. Both thermoset and thermoplastic polymers, fiber-reinforced, and unreinforced polymers have been field tested under high pressures and accelerations experienced during firing of the projectile with mixed results (9). The extreme loading conditions witnessed by the sub-components inside the bore and in the transition loads at the muzzle end must be taken into account during the material selection process. A detailed finite-element analysis (FEA) based study was conducted (10) based upon which long-fiber-reinforced polyamide (nylon ( $w_F = 10\%$ , and  $w_F = 40\%$ ) was chosen for this application.

### 4. Manufacturing

Presently, the all-aluminum tailcone is manufactured from aluminum bar stock which is manually fed to a computer numeric controlled (CNC) mill and machined down to close-tolerance (figure 4). The estimated machining time for these parts is about 5 hr followed by surface-finishing operations. Extrusion-compression molding of LFTs was chosen as the manufacturing process in this study, since it met the requirements of low cycle time and retention of fiber integrity during processing.

A single-cavity steel tool was developed for the compression molding of the LFT thermoplastic tailcone. The tool was designed to have enough flexibility that would allow some changes in the design without major tooling re-engineering. The conceptual schematic for molding the plastic tailcone is presented in figure 4. A four-component, compression-molding tool featured a top lid, an interchangeable block, a cap, and a solid cavity. The solid female tool includes the external geometry of the tailcone and the spin grooves. The interchangeable block allows for the manufacturing of a hollow-back tailcone or solid-back tailcone, depending on the desired shape. The cap allows for insert positioning previous to the molding and facilitates the demolding



Figure 4. Molding concept for manufacturing of plastic tailcones: (a) exploded view and (b) cross section.

operation. This cap includes the inner threads that assemble to the back of the KE projectile. The molten charge is placed in the solid cavity and formed by the pressure exerted during closing of the press to the final shape.

An internal insert made of steel was used in order to adapt the existing threads of the aluminum tailcone. Several insert designs were considered, and two final concepts were chosen for the molding trials. Two insert configurations were used; a fully threaded insert and a partially threaded beaded insert. The cross-sectional view of the LFT tailcone with the two types of inserts (for the case of the hollow-back tailcone) is shown in figure 5.



Figure 5. Cross section of LFT composite tailcone showing detail on inserts used during molding trials of hollowback thermoplastic composite tailcones: (a) threaded insert and (b) beaded insert.

Straight-threaded aluminum inserts, 95 and 100 mm long, were used when molding the back-filled LFT composite tailcone. The cross section of the back-filled tailcone solid model is shown in figure 6.



Figure 6. Back-filled LFT composite tailcone cross section.

### 5. Molding

A 400,000 kg (400 metric ton) press was used to mold the LFT composite tailcone. The initial set of tail cones was molded using nylon 66/E-glass LFT with 40%  $W_f$  (table 1). The second set of tail cones was molded using nylon 66/E-glass LFT with 10%  $W_f$ . The two fiber loadings represent a high- and low-fiber-loading case respectively, and demonstrate the flexibility of the extrusion-compression molding process. The aluminum insert was screwed to the cap and placed inside the solid cavity of the tool prior to LFT charge placement. The temperature of the bottom cavity of the mold was raised to 121 °C (250 °F). The plasticator was set at 287 °C (550 °F). Once the extruded charge was transferred from the plasticator to the mold, the press was lowered and a 300,000-kg (300-metric-ton) force was applied to consolidate the LFT charge around the insert. The mold was cooled in air and demolded. The manufacturing cycle time was approximately 60 s. The molded nylon LFT 40%  $W_f$  thermoplastic composite hollow-back tailcones are shown in figure 7, alongside the all-aluminum tailcone and some of the inserts used in the first molding trials.

Physical Properties	English	Metric	ASTM					
Primary additive	50%	50%						
Specific gravity	1.57	1.57	D 792					
Molding shrinkage			_					
1/8-in (3.2-mm) section	0.0010-0.0030 in/in	0.10%-0.30%	D 955					
	<b>Mechanical Properties</b>							
Impact strength, Izod								
Notched 1/8-in (3.2-mm) section	5.0 ft-lb/in	267 J/m	D 256					
Unnotched 1/8-in (3.2-mm) section	24.0 ft-lb/in	1281 J/m	D 4812					
Tensile strength	35000 psi	241 MPa	D 638					
Tensile elongation	2.0%-3.0%	2.0%-3.0%	D 638					
Tensile modulus	$2.50 \times 10^6$ psi	17238 MPa	D 638					
Flexural strength	50000 psi	345 MPa	D 790					
Flexural modulus	$2.30 \times 10^6$ psi	15858 MPa	D 790					
Thermal Properties								
Deflection temperature								
At 264 psi (1820 kPa)	460 °F	238 °C	D 648					
At 66 psi (455 kPa)	475 °F	246 °C	D 648					

Table 1. Physical, mechanical, and thermal properties of nylon 66 (PA) long glass fiber.



Figure 7. Molded thermoplastic composite tailcone, aluminum inserts, and aluminum tailcone.

The second molding trials were performed using 0% (neat nylon 66), 10%, and 40%  $W_f$  LFT pellets under the same processing conditions previously described. The second molding attempt concentrated on the manufacture of the back-filled tailcones. Cost analysis comparing an all-aluminum vs. an LFT composite tailcone as well as microstructural studies were conducted to evaluate the volume fractions, fiber lengths, and fiber orientations developed in the tailcone by burn-off studies (*11*). To minimize the effect of thermal stresses developed during the cooling cycle of the tailcones, moldings were cooled using different cooling rates and under different conditions.

The produced back-filled cones are shown in figure 8. Once they were visually inspected, they were sectioned and polished to assess the quality of the molded parts. The tailcones molded with pure nylon showed severe external cracks induced by the excessive shrinkage of the polymer during the cooling stage (figure 9) and were discarded for any further analysis.



Figure 8. (a) Back-filled cones produced during second molding trials using neat nylon 66 (white cone), 10% (right) and 40% W<sub>f</sub> glass LFT (left). (b) Detail showing as produced hollow-back tailcone (first molding) and back-filled version (second molding).



Figure 9. Cross-section image of neat nylon 66 tailcone and detail on thermally induced cracks.

The tailcones molded with a glass fiber loading of 10%  $W_f$  showed small signs of warpage. The tailcones molded with 40%  $W_f$  did not show any significant signs of processing induced flaws. Once the visual inspection was finished, both the 10% and the 40%  $W_f$  loaded cones were sectioned to determine the porosity and the occurrence on internal flaws. The cross-section images for the 10% and 40% moldings are shown in figures 10 and 11. It is clear that the



Figure 10. Cross-section image of 10%  $W_{\rm f}$  nylon 66 tailcone and detail on porosity and thermal stress induced crack.



Figure 11. Cross-section image of 40%  $W_f$  nylon 66 tailcone and detail on minor crack formation at the edge of the tailcone.

increase in fiber loading on the part restricts the crack formation due to thermal stresses and reduces thermally induced flaws (as the glass fiber content increases, the CTE is lowered). The internal cracks observed on the 10%  $W_f$  moldings are highly developed and can affect the

performance of the tailcones significantly during firing. There were some small cracks observed on the 40% moldings, but these are not expected to be a detriment to the structural integrity due to their location and size. To minimize the probability of thermal cracking inside the cones the upper tool temperature was increased and the resident time in the press during cooling was adjusted to 3 min.

### 6. Summary

Thermoplastic composites can be used effectively in replacing metal components that require extensive machining, such as in the case of an all-aluminum tailcone used in a KE penetrator. Long fiber thermoplastic-composite tailcones with hollow-back and back-filled configuration were manufactured successfully using extrusion-compression molding. Processing issues related to optimum resident time in the press and upper- and lower-tool temperatures were optimized to produce good quality moldings. A projected 230% cost savings is realized in adopting the long fiber thermoplastic tailcone in place of an all-aluminum one, for training round applications. Successful firing trials have been conducted with the 40% LFT filled nylon 66 tailcones; furthermore, the projectiles stabilized by the thermoplastic-composite tailcone hit the desired location in the target.

### 7. References

- 1. Häuptli, M.; Winski, J. Plastics Additives and Compounding 2003, 39.
- 2. Knights, M. Plastics Technology. Gardner Publications 2003, 04.
- 3. Thomason, J.; Vlug, M. A. Composites: Part A. 1996, 27A, 477–484.
- 4. Schut, J. Plastics Technology. Garner Publications 2002, 04.
- 5. Advani, S.; Sozer, E. *Process Modeling in Composites Manufacturing*; Marcel Dekker Inc.: New York, 2002.
- 6. Thomson, T.; Kamdar, D. The National Defense Industrial Association 36th Annual Gun and Ammunition Symposium and Exhibition **2001**.
- Garner, J.; Bundy, M.; Newill, J. Development of a Plastic Stabilizer for the M865 Training Projectile; ARL-MR-445; U.S. Army Research Laboratory: Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, 1999.
- 8. http://www.plasticstechnology.com/pricing/ (accessed July 2005).
- 9. Bundy, M. *Plastic Fins for Kinetic Energy (KE) Penetrators*; ARL-TR-1267; U.S. Army Research Laboratory: Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, 1996.
- 10. Vaidya, U.; Villalobos, A.; Serrano, J.; Husman, G.; Sands, J. SAMPE International *Technical Conference*, 2005; Vol. 37.
- 11. Vaidya, U.; Janowski, G. Microstructure in LFT Composite Molded Tailcone. Journal submission draft.

NO. OF COPIES ORGANIZATION

- 1 DEFENSE TECHNICAL
- (PDF INFORMATION CTR ONLY) DTIC OCA 8725 JOHN J KINGMAN RD

STE 0944 FORT BELVOIR VA 22060-6218

- 1 US ARMY RSRCH DEV & ENGRG CMD SYSTEMS OF SYSTEMS INTEGRATION AMSRD SS T 6000 6TH ST STE 100 FORT BELVOIR VA 22060-5608
- 1 DIRECTOR US ARMY RESEARCH LAB IMNE ALC IMS 2800 POWDER MILL RD ADELPHI MD 20783-1197
- 1 DIRECTOR US ARMY RESEARCH LAB AMSRD ARL CI OK TL 2800 POWDER MILL RD ADELPHI MD 20783-1197

#### ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND

1 DIR USARL AMSRD ARL CI OK TP (BLDG 4600)

#### NO. OF COPIES ORGANIZATION

- 3 US ARMY RESEARCH OFC D STEPP R SHAW T DOLIGALSKI PO BOX 12211 RESEARCH TRIANGLE PARK NC 27709-2211
- 1 DARPA TACTICAL TECHLGY OFC S WALKER 3701 N FAIRFAX DR ARLINGTON VA 22203-1714
- 2 DARPA DEFENSE SCI OFC W COBLENZ L CHRISTODOULOU 3701 N FAIRFAX DR ARLINGTON VA 22203-1714
- 1 COMMANDER US ARMY MATERIEL CMD AMSMI INT 9301 CHAPEK RD FORT BELVOIR VA 22060-5527
- 1 COMMANDER US ARMY TACOM PM COMBAT SYS SFAE GCS CS 6501 ELEVEN MILE RD WARREN MI 48397-5000
- 1 COMMANDER US ARMY TACOM AMSTA SF WARREN MI 48397-5000
- 1 COMMANDER US ARMY TACOM PM SURV SYS SFAE ASM SS 6501 ELEVEN MILE RD WARREN MI 48397-5000
- 1 COMMANDER US ARMY TACOM PEO CS & CSS PM LIGHT TACTICAL VEHIC SFAE CSS LT M114 6501 ELEVEN MILE RD WARREN MI 48397-5000

NO. OF COPIES ORGANIZATION

- 1 US ARMY TARDEC AMSRD TAR R D TEMPLETON MS 263 6501 E ELEVEN MILE RD WARREN MI 48397-5000
- 1 COMMANDER NSWC CARDEROCK DIV R PETERSON CODE 28 9500 MACARTHUR BLVD WEST BETHESDA MD 20817-5700
- 1 COMMANDER NSWC CARDEROCK DIV R CRANE CODE 6553 9500 MACARTHUR BLVD WEST BETHESDA MD 20817-5700
- 1 MARINE CORPS INTLLGNC ACTVTY D KOSITZKE 3300 RUSSELL RD STE 250 QUANTICO VA 22134-5011
- 3 UNIV OF ALABAMA AT BIRMINGHAM T JACKSON U VAIDYA G JANOWSKI BEC 254 1530 THIRD AVE SOUTH BIRMINGHAM AL 35294-4461
- 1 NORTH DAKOTA STATE UNIV C ULVEN DOLVE 111 PO BOX 5285 FARGO ND 58105
- 1 NATIONAL COMPOSITES CTR L LUEUDTKE 2000 COMPOSITES DR KETTERING OH 45420
- 1 VIRGINIA TECH S R TURNER 2 DAVIDSON HALL 0201 BLACKSBURG VA 24061

#### NO. OF COPIES ORGANIZATION

- UNIV OF DELAWARE J DEITZEL
   219 COMPOSITES SCI LAB NEWARD DE 19716-3144
- 1 DREXEL UNIV G PALMESE 3141 CHESTNUT ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19104
- 1 TICONA D EMERSON 2600 OPDYKE RD AUBURN HILLS MI 48326

#### ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND

23 DIR USARL AMSRD ARL O AP EG FI M ADAMSON AMSRD ARL HR P DEITZ AMSRD ARL WM J SMITH AMSRD ARL WM B M ZOLTOSKI AMSRD ARL WM BC J GARNER AMSRD ARL WM RP C SHOEMAKER AMSRD ARL WM M J BEATTY S MCKNIGHT AMSRD ARL WM MA M VANLANDINGHAM AMSRD ARL WM MB L BURTON A FRYDMAN T BOGETTI AMSRD ARL WM MC M MAHER AMSRD ARL WM MD **B** CHEESEMAN S WALSH E CHIN J SANDS **P DEHMER** AMSRD ARL WM TA C HOPPEL S SCHOENFELD

### NO. OF COPIES ORGANIZATION

AMSRD ARL WM TB P BAKER AMSRD ARL WM TC R COATES AMSRD ARL WM TE A NIILER